FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
10/25/2021 2:19 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/26/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100328-5

NO. 82547-0-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JACK ROSS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable John R. Hickman, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANA M. NELSON Attorney for Petitioner NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT
	PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED PETITIONER OF A FAIR TRIAL8
	INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DEPRIVED ROSS OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL
	(i) Failure to Object to Prosecutor's Misstatement of Law regarding Reasonable Doubt
	(ii) Failure to Object to Prosecutor's Argument Based on Facts not in Evidence
	(iii) Failure to Object to Prosecutor's Appeal to the Passion and Prejudice of the Jury24
	(iv)Failure to Object to Prosecutor's Misstatement of Law regarding Forcible Compulsion
	3. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE SECOND DEGREE RAPE
F.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Muontain, Inc.</u> 93 Wn.2d 127, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980)
<u>In re Det. of Williams</u> 147 Wash.2d 476, 55 P.3d 597 (2002)9
<u>In re Glasmann</u> 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)8, 20, 24
<u>In re Personal Restraint of Gunter</u> 102 Wn.2d 769, 689 P.2d 1074 (1984)19
<u>In re Personal Restraint of Yates</u> 177 Wash.2d 1, 296 P.3d 872 (2013)17
<u>Seattle v. Harclaon</u> 56 Wn.2d 596, 354 P.2d 928 (1960)
<u>State v. Allen</u> 182 Wn.2d 364, 341 P.3d 268 (2015)26
<u>State v. Benn</u> 120 Wn.2d 631, 845 P.2d 289 <u>cert. denied,</u> 510 U.S. 944, 114 S. Ct. 382, 126 L. Ed. 2d 331 (1993)
<u>State v. Corey</u> 181 Wn. App. 272, 325 P.3d 250 (2014)29
<u>State v. Crow</u> 8 Wn. App. 2d 480, 438 P.3d 664 (2019)16
<u>State v. Davenport</u> 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)27

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Demery</u> 144 Wn.2d 762, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001)20
<u>State v. Emery</u> 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)11
<u>State v. Estes</u> 188 Wn.2d 450, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017)
<u>State v. Fagalde</u> 85 Wn.2d 730, 539 P.2d 86 (1975)
<u>State v. Finch</u> 137 Wash.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)9
<u>State v. Henson</u> 11 Wash. App. 2d 97, 451 P.3d 1127 (2019)
<u>State v. Hickman</u> 135 Wn.2d 97, 954 P.2d 900 (1998)
<u>State v. McKnight</u> 54 Wn. App. 521, 774 P.2d 532 (1989)
<u>State v. Monday</u> 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)
<u>State v. Paumier</u> 176 Wash. 2d 29, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012)
<u>State v. Pierce</u> 169 Wn. App. 533, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012)21
<u>State v. Ray</u> 116 Wn.2d 531, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991)
<u>State v. Ritola</u> 63 Wn. App. 252, 817 P.2d 1390 (1991)29

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>State v. Smiley</u> 195 Wn. App. 185, 379 P.3d 149 (2016)25
<u>State v. Smith</u> 174 Wn. App. 359, 298 P.3d 785 (2013)
<u>State v. Stanley</u> 120 Wash. App. 312, 85 P.3d 395 (2004)
<u>State v. Strine</u> 176 Wn.2d 742, 293 P.3d 1177 (2015)
<u>State v. Vazquez</u> Wn.2d, 431-32, 494 P.3d 424, (2021)17, 26, 30
<u>State v. Warren</u> 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)
<u>State v. Wright</u> 152 Wn. App. 64, 214 P.3d 968 (2009)29
FEDERAL CASES
Brecht v. Abrahamson 507 U.S. 619, 113 S. Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993)19
<u>In re Winship</u> 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)
Miller v. Pate 386 U.S. 1, 87 S. Ct. 785, 17 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1967)8
<u>Neder v. United States</u> 527 U.S. 1, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999)19
Rose v. Clark 478 U.S. 570, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986)19

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D)

Page
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)16
United States v. Espinosa 827 F.2d 604 (9th Cir. 1987)
United States v. Yarbrough 852 F.2d 1522 (9th Cir.1988)
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
Am. Bar Ass'n, Standards for Criminal Justice, commentary to std. 3-5.8 (2d ed. 1980)
RAP 13.4
RAP 14.418, 21
RCW 9A.44.01027, 32
RCW 9A.44.050
U.S. Const. Amend. VI
US. Const. amend. XIV, § 1
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Jack Ross asks this Court to review the decision of the court of appeals referred to in section B.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Petitioner seeks review of <u>State v. Ross</u>, COA No. 82547-0-I, filed on September 27, 2021, attached as an appendix.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. (a) Whether prosecutorial misconduct deprived petitioner of his right to a fair trial where the prosecutor argued the jury could convict even if it had a reasonable doubt so long as it had an abiding belief in the truth of the charge? (b) Whether this Court should accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions, particularly where the

appellate court's decision conflicts with this Court's decision in State v. Lindsay¹? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

- 2. (a) Whether ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the prosecutor's misstatement of reasonable doubt denied petitioner of his right to a fair trial? (b) Whether this Court should accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions? (c) Whether this Court should accept review of other instances of ineffective assistance of counsel as each involves a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions? RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- 3. Whether the cumulative effect of counsel's subpar performance likely affected the outcome of the case?

¹ <u>State v. Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014) (motion for mistrial after prosecutor's rebuttal argument preserved prosecutorial misconduct issue).

4. (a) Whether the state failed to prove the forcible compulsion element of second degree rape? (b) Whether this Court should accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

In 2019, Jack Ross went on trial for second degree rape and second degree child rape based on an incident that occurred in 2012. RP 508, 516, 586. By the time of trial, the complainant H.T. was 20 years old. RP 508. H.T. testified that on one occasion when she was babysitting Ross' niece (D.), Ross touched H.T. inside her swimsuit top and put his fingers in her vagina, whereupon H.T. got up and ran out of the apartment. RP 524-37.

There were many inconsistencies between H.T.'s testimony at trial and H.T.'s statements to a detective in 2016, when H.T. was interviewed by police (after police reached out multiple times (RP 637-643)). <u>Cf.</u> 517, 571,

664 (discrepancy in D.'s age); RP 524, 658 (discrepancy in where Ross reportedly put hands – on shoulder or in top); RP 533, 660 (discrepancy in what H.T. was wearing – shirt and top over swimsuit or just swimsuit); RP 569 (discrepancy in circumstances of H.T.'s disclosure); RP 560-62, 621, 624, 637-41 (discrepancies in H.T.'s conversations with reporting party); RP 539, 662 (discrepancy in H.T.'s description of her friendship with Ross); RP 575-76, 661 (discrepancy in whether H.T. and D. screamed).

H.T. claimed that after the alleged incident, she stopped babysitting or socializing with friends and kept to herself. RP 541. In contrast, however, H.T.'s mother testified H.T. kept up her normal activities of playing at the park, swimming and camping throughout the summer. RP 599-600.

Police involvement came about after H.T. – in 2016

– told a fellow camp counselor trainee she was "not

alone" and "this happened to me too," after the other trainee disclosed prior sexual abuse. RP 552, 615, 620, 636. The two were involved in a team building exercise by one of the camp's directors who is a mandatory reporter. RP 552, 569, 615. The director took H.T. aside and advised she would have to report the alleged abuse. RP 618. H.T. was "not thrilled." RP 619.

When interviewed by police in April 2018, Ross denied the allegations but remembered H.T., who used to babysit for his niece. RP 694.

Ross' defense focused on Ross' denial, the circumstances of H.T.'s delayed disclosure and H.T.'s numerous inconsistent statements about the incident. RP 737-742

In her opening closing argument, the prosecutor informed the jury:

You can have a reasonable doubt. But if you still have an biding belief in the truth of the charge, even with your reasonable doubts, then you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt.

RP 736.2

In Ross' closing, defense counsel countered:

One thing I want to say just right off the top is that if you have — Just to respond to what you just heard, if you get to the end of your deliberations and you have a reasonable doubt as to any of the elements in either of these counts, then it is your duty to deliver a verdict of not guilty. That's what a reasonable doubt means. It's not accurate to suggest that you can have a reasonable doubt as to any of the elements and still return a verdict of guilty.

RP 737.

In rebuttal, the prosecutor argued she and defense counsel would have to disagree:

Counsel states that if you have a reasonable doubt that it's your duty to find the defendant not guilty. That's not how I read Jury Instruction No. 3. The common language is beyond a reasonable doubt. So if you have a reasonable doubt and you are convinced beyond that reasonable doubt, you have an

² "an biding" is how it appears verbatim in the transcript. RP 749.

abiding belief in the truth of the charge and you can find the defendant guilty. So again we're going to disagree.

RP 749.

Defense counsel did not contemporaneously object to the prosecutor's arguments regarding reasonable doubt. However, when defense counsel learned the jury had reached a verdict, but before the court took the verdict, defense counsel asked for a mistrial on grounds the prosecutor's arguments improperly diminished the state's burden of proof. RP 770-771. Defense counsel reported he should have objected at the time, "but better late than never." RP 771.

The court denied the motion for mistrial on grounds it was untimely. RP 770, 774-775. The jury convicted Ross as charged. CP 45-46.

E. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

1. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED PETITIONER OF A FAIR TRIAL.

The prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument by diminishing the state's burden of proof. This issue involves a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. The appellate court's resolution of the issue – finding it unpreserved – conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>State v. Lindsay</u>, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). Review is appropriate. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair trial guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. Miller v. Pate, 386 U.S. 1, 87 S. Ct. 785, 17 L. Ed. 2d 690 (1967); State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). The right to a fair trial is a fundamental liberty secured by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article

I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution.

Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48

L.Ed.2d 126 (1976).

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675 (citations omitted); see also United States v. Yarbrough, 852 F.2d 1522, 1539 (9th Cir.1988). Prejudice is established where there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. Monday, 171 Wn. App. at 675.

Due process requires that the state bear the burden of proving every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). A defendant is entitled to the benefit of a reasonable doubt. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26-27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). Whether a doubt exists and, if so, whether that doubt is reasonable may be subject to debate in a particular case.

However, it is an unassailable principle that the burden is on the state to prove every element and that the defendant is entitled to the benefit of any reasonable doubt. It is error for the state to suggest otherwise. Warren, at 26-27.

The prosecutor did more than suggest otherwise. She sought to undermine the state's burden of proof telling the jury: "You can have a reasonable doubt. But if you still have an biding belief in the truth of the charge, even with your reasonable doubts, then you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt." RP 736. She emphasized this in rebuttal closing as well. RP 749.

This was a clear misstatement of the law constituting misconduct. Warren, 165 Wn.2d at 27. Appropriately, the appellate court agreed the prosecutor misstated the law. Appendix at 9, 15.

However, the appellate court found the issue was not preserved:

Our standard of review depends on whether Ross objected to these comments at trial. See [State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)]. Ross contends that his motion for mistrial served as an objection to these comments. The State suggests that the motion, made after the jury reached a verdict but before its announcement, did not preserve the issue. We agree with the state.

Ross relies on Lindsay, which differs from this case. There, the court held that the defense's "motion for a mistrial due to prosecutorial misconduct directly following the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument" preserved the issue for appellate review. 180 Wn.2d at 430-31. Presumably, this gave the court the opportunity to consider a curative instruction before deliberation. But here, Ross moved for a mistrial after the deliberations and a curative instruction would have thus been futile. Ross otherwise cites no law supporting his position.

Appendix at 10 (footnote omitted).

The appellate court is incorrect that the situation differs from <u>Lindsay</u>. Double jeopardy had not terminated. <u>State v. Strine</u>, 176 Wn.2d 742, 753, 293 P.3d 1177 (2015) (jeopardy did not terminate although jury initially returned verdict of not guilty and the trial court

read the verdict aloud where verdict was not entered and not final). Accordingly, as in <u>Lindsay</u>, the court here still had an opportunity to consider a curative instruction. Because the unknown and unannounced verdict was not "final," the court could have given a clarifying instruction as did the court in <u>Warren</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 25, and sent the jury back to deliberate anew in light of the court's clarification of the state's burden of proof.

The appellate court gave no rationale for why such a procedure would be "futile." In fact, juries frequently are told to begin deliberations "anew." See e.g. State v. Stanley, 120 Wash. App. 312, 315, 85 P.3d 395, 396–97 (2004) (jury must be told to begin deliberations anew when alternate juror is substituted). And jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. State v. Henson, 11 Wash. App. 2d 97, 105, 451 P.3d 1127, 1132 (2019). Thus, the appellate court's opinion that a curative

instruction at this point would have been futile is unsupported.

Regardless, there are also cases where this Court has held a motion for mistrial preserved the claimed error even though the motion was made at a time when there was no opportunity for the court to consider a curative instruction. See e.g. State v. Fagalde, 85 Wn.2d 730, 731-32, 539 P.2d 86 (1975); State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 540-42, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991); Seattle v. Harclaon, 56 Wn.2d 596, 598-99, 354 P.2d 928 (1960); Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Muontain, Inc., 93 Wn.2d 127, 141, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980). The appellate court decision conflicts with these authorities as well.

When the proper standard of review is applied – as required by <u>Lindsay</u> – it is clear the prosecutor's misstatement of the burden of proof merits a new trial for Ross.

The jury was left with the direction they could convict despite having a reasonable doubt. There is a substantial likelihood this misconduct affected the jury's verdict. This was not an open and shut case. H.T. did not make her accusation until years after-the-fact. When she finally accused Ross, it was during an emotional team-building exercise where she wanted to comfort one of her fellow campers. When the camp director told H.T. she had to report the allegation, H.T. was not "thrilled." H.T. did not contact police after the camp director contacted her with Detective Eggleston's information. Numerous details about what H.T. ultimately told Eggleston did not match with what H.T. testified to at trial. One significant inconsistency is that H.T. told Eggleston Ross touched her back with cold hands, not her breasts as she claimed at trial. Another significant inconsistency was what she was wearing. But perhaps the most significant inconsistency is the claimed screaming. H.T.

told Eggleston both she and D. were screaming at the top of their lungs. Yet, no one from the pool just below heard them. At trial, H.T. changed her story and testified she did not remember any screaming. Considering the evidence and lack thereof, this case had plenty of doubt the jury could have found reasonable. Unfortunately for Ross, however, the prosecutor's argument left jurors with the impression they could convict despite having a reasonable doubt. It is more than just "conceivable" the outcome would have been different had the prosecutor not misstated the burden of proof. See Appendix at 16.

2. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DEPRIVED ROSS OF HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

Both the federal and state Constitutions guarantee the right to effective representation. U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22. A defendant is denied this right when (1) his or her attorney's conduct falls below a minimum objective standard of reasonable attorney

conduct, and (2) there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would be different but for the attorney's conduct. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 663, 845 P.2d 289, cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944, 114 S. Ct. 382, 126 L. Ed. 2d 331 (1993).

"A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 694. A reasonable probability is lower than a preponderance standard. <u>State v. Estes</u>, 188 Wn.2d 450, 458, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017).

When a defendant centers their claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on their attorney's failure to object, then:

"the defendant must show that the objection would likely have succeeded." [State v. Crow, 8 Wn. App. 2d 480, 508, 438 P.3d 664 (2019)]. "Only in egregious circumstances, on testimony central to the State's case, will the failure to object constitute incompetence of counsel justifying reversal." Id. However, if

defense counsel fails to object to *inadmissible* evidence, then they have performed deficiently, and reversal is required if the defendant can show the result would likely have been different without the inadmissible evidence.

<u>State v. Vazquez</u>, __ Wn.2d __, 431-32, 494 P.3d 424, (2021).

Likewise, if a prosecutor engages in misconduct and defense counsel fails to object, counsel's performance is deficient. <u>In re Personal Restraint of Yates</u>, 177 Wash.2d 1, 61, 296 P.3d 872 (2013).

Here, the prosecutor engaged in four instances of misconduct: (i) diminishing the state's burden of proof as argued above; (ii) arguing facts not in evidence; (iii) improperly appealing to the passions and prejudices of the jury; and (iv) misstating the law on forcible compulsion. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 19-36.

In all instances, defense counsel failed to object.

This amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel. The

appellate court erred in holding otherwise. Appendix at 14-15. This Court should accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions. RAP 14.4(b)(3).

(i) Failure to Object to Prosecutor's Misstatement of Law regarding Reasonable Doubt

The appellate court appropriately presumed counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the prosecutor's misstatement of reasonable doubt. Appendix at 15. However, the court miscalculated when considering the resulting prejudice.

When a *court* incorrectly instructs on the burden of proof the error is considered structural. State v. Smith, 174 Wn. App. 359, 298 P.3d 785 (2013) (court's instruction to jury that if it finds the state has not proven all the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, it "should" find the defendant not guilty was structural error); In re Personal Restraint of Gunter, 102

Wn.2d 769, 689 P.2d 1074 (1984) (failure to instruct jury the state had burden to prove enhancement beyond a reasonable doubt was pre se prejudicial and required reversal).

Structural errors "infect the entire trial process" and deprive the defendant of "basic protections," without which "no criminal punishment may be regarded as fundamentally fair." State v. Paumier, 176 Wash. 2d 29, 46, 288 P.3d 1126, 1134 (2012) (citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999) (quoting Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 630, 113 S. Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993) and Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 577, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986)).

Although it was the *prosecutor* not the court that misstated the burden of proof, the error is as prejudicial since the prosecutor enjoys a special aura of reliability in our society. "An officer's live testimony offered during

trial, like a prosecutor's statements made during trial, may often 'carr[y] an aura of special reliability and trustworthiness'" and is "especially likely" to influence a jury. State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 762, 763, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001) (emphasis added) (second alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting United States v. Espinosa, 827 F.2d 604, 613 (9th Cir. 1987)); see also In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 706, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) ("The prosecutor's argument is likely to have significant persuasive force with the jury.") (quoting Am. BAR Ass'n, STANDARDS FOR CRIMINAL JUSTICE, commentary to std. 3-5.8 (2d ed. 1980)).

It is disingenuous for the court of appeals to conclude that the prosecutor's diminishment of the state's burden had only a "conceivable" effect on the outcome of the trial. And contrary to the appellate court's factual recitation, Ross denied the allegations. He did not touch H.T.'s breast. He explained he wrestled with H.T., but

had no memory of touching her inappropriately while wrestling. RP 693-95. This was a denial of the allegations as made by H.T. Moreover, there were many reasons to doubt H.T. even without Ross' denial, as argued above. This Court therefore should accept review of this significant constitutional question. RAP 14.4(b)(3).

(ii) <u>Failure to Object to Prosecutor's</u>
<u>Argument Based on Facts not in Evidence</u>

Although the State has wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence, it is misconduct for a prosecutor to urge the jury to decide a case based on evidence outside the record. <u>State v. Pierce</u>, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012).

Here, the prosecutor argued facts not in evidence when she relayed information in another case where there was a holdout juror who expected satellite evidence in order to convict. Ross' prosecutor essentially told the jury that the holdout juror was ridiculous for holding the

state to such a high burden and that no such evidence exists anyway:

I had a colleague who was trying a case once, and the jury was 11 to 1 to convict. And that one holdout juror was a big "CSI" fan and said he knows based on watching "CSI" that there's satellites in the sky and he wants the police to get a copy of the incident based on that satellite.

I can tell you today that in any case that's tried in the United States, there is not going to be that satellite in the sky. This is real life. This is real life cases. This is real life human beings in this case. And again, that's why we employ the beyond a reasonable doubt standard and not beyond all doubt, which is probably what you would get if you get that satellite in the sky.

As I stated in my opening – or excuse me – my closing statement, there are inconsistencies in this case. There are inconsistencies in every case.

RP 750.

This was misconduct. There was no evidence admitted addressing the other case or the availability of satellite imagery. The prosecutor essentially inserted herself as an expert witness as to what type of evidence a

jury may reasonably expect. The prosecutor then tied this in with "inconsistencies" – of which there were many in this case – and suggested the jury not get bogged down by them, that there are inconsistencies in every case. The suggestion is that because there are inconsistencies in every case, they don't add up to reasonable doubt or there would never be any convictions. The prosecutor's argument invaded the province of the jury to decide what doubts are reasonable. See Warren, 165 Wn.2d at 26-27.

Again, defense counsel failed to object. This was deficient performance. The result of the trial likely would have been different without the prosecutor's injection of outside information.

(iii) Failure to Object to Prosecutor's Appeal to the Passion and Prejudice of the Jury

An appeal to the passion and prejudice of the jury through use of inflammatory rhetoric is improper.

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d at 704. Here, the prosecutor argued in rebuttal that if the defense theory were accepted,³ the effect would be to give teenage girls no voice:

How counsel I think is suggesting that this is some sort of teenager – teenage girl situation going on here, where perhaps she's too emotional or something like that, I'm not quite sure how to respond to that because I – I don't know, number one, that there is such an exception. I think if counsel is truly arguing that because she was a teenage girl when she first disclosed it just on its face is not reliable, I think that's actually insulting at the very least. And you might not agree with me on that. But that means that teenage girls don't have a voice.

RP 753-54.

³ The defense suggested that H.T.'s alleged disclosure – while untrue – may have been motivated by an altruistic desire to reach out and comfort the other camper. RP 743-44.

This was misconduct. State v. Smiley, 195 Wn. App. 185, 379 P.3d 149 (2016). The prosecutor there argued the state may as well give up prosecuting sex abuse cases if the victim's word were not enough. "If the system did work that way, kids would have to be told, we're sorry, we can't prosecutor your case, we can't hold your abuser responsible because all we have is your word, and that's not enough." Smiley, at 194. indicated above, the Smiley Court held this was improper: "Jurors should not be made to feel responsible for ensuring that the criminal justice system is effective in protecting children." Smiley, at 195. Similarly, the jury should not be made to feel responsible for giving teenage girls their voices.

Again, defense counsel did not object. There is a reasonably probability the result of the trial would have been different without the prosecutor's appeal to the passions and prejudices of the jury.

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