FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/19/2021 4:15 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100328-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JACK ROSS,

Petitioner.

Petition for Review

STATE'S ANSWER

MARY E. ROBNETT Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 31762/OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave., Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-7400

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. There is no conflict with Lindsay.

The Defendant asserts that the court of appeals' discussion of prosecutorial error is in conflict with *State v. Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014). Pet. at 11-12. The court of appeals found the *Lindsay* case distinguishable. Unpub. Op. at 10. There is no conflict.

The court of appeals found that the Defendant did not make a contemporaneous objection, raising his challenge *after*

the jury had reached its verdict. RP 770, 774-75; Unpub. Op. at 3. It was too late to instruct the jury further. Failing to object waives the claim unless the remark was so flagrant and ill intentioned that it caused an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). "When evaluating whether misconduct is flagrant and ill intentioned, we 'focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill-intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured.' "State v. Slater, 197 Wn.2d 660, 680-81, 486 P.3d 873, 884–85 (2021) (quoting *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)). The court of appeals found the error was not reversible where a timely instruction would have cured any prejudice. Unpub. Op. at 9.

The Defendant challenges the standard, claiming that the court still could have instructed the jury even though the jury had already reached a verdict. He claims this is what occurred in *Lindsay*. Pet. at 12. In fact, in *Lindsay*, the objection came

"directly following the prosecutor's closing rebuttal argument" thereby giving the court an opportunity to consider a curative instruction "before deliberation." Unpub. Op. at 10 (quoting *Lindsay*, 180 Wn.2d at 430-31). Because the cases are distinguishable, there is no conflict.

The Defendant cites other cases claiming they stand for the proposition that a motion for mistrial can preserve error after a verdict has been reached. Pet. at 13 (citing State v. Fagalde, 85 Wn.2d 730, 731-32, 539 P.2d 86 (1975) (reviewing defense's timely objection to testimony on the basis of doctor-patient privilege); State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 540-42, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991) (reviewing state's mid-trial motion to exclude defendant's alibi witness); Seattle v. Harclaon, 56 Wn.2d 596, 598-99, 354 P.2d 928 (1960) (affirming civil judgment where appellant failed to preserve challenge to jury instruction with any timely objection); Eqede-Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc., 93 Wn.2d 127, 141, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980) (maintaining the court of appeals' reversal on instructional grounds while addressing an

unpreserved issue regarding the trial judge's partiality so as to avoid repetition of the error on retrial). The Defendant has misrepresented the cases. Two regard timely objections. One rejects a claim because the objection was untimely. One addresses an issue that might arise upon retrial. And none of the pinpoint cites regard claims of prosecutorial error, therefore none would apply this standard of review.

The Defendant argues that the prosecutor's comment could have affected the verdict. Pet. at 14. But that is not the standard. He must show that any prejudice resulting from that comment could not have been cured with an instruction from the judge. Here, with a timely objection, the judge could have cured any prejudice simply by redirecting the jury to the existing instruction. The Defendant concedes that the error would have been curable with a timely objection. Pet. at 12 (arguing the court could have instructed the same jury to begin deliberations anew). Because the Defendant failed to enter an objection until

after the jury had reached a verdict, the court of appeals properly held that the challenge was waived.

B. A prosecutor's remarks cannot be structural error where the court has instructed the jury on the matter.

The court of appeals found that defense counsel's failure to object in a timely manner was ultimately not prejudicial. Unpub. Op. at 15. The Defendant asks this Court to find that an inaccurate remark by the prosecutor is structural error, always prejudicial, notwithstanding the trial court's correct instruction of the law. Pet. at 19. This is not the law and should not be the law. The longstanding standard properly recognizes the difference between a court's written instruction and an attorney's oral remark.

A prosecutor's remarks do not have the advantages of the court's instructions. The former are drafted on the fly, responsive to testimony that is often different than anticipated and responsive in the moment to opposing counsel's argument. Court instructions, on the other hand, are deliberately crafted and thoroughly litigated. The standard instruction recognizes this by

instructing the jury: "The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions." CP 29.

There is no dispute that the judge properly instructed the jury on reasonable doubt and the burden of proof consistent with WPIC 4.01. CP 32. WPIC 4.01 has been approved as a complete and accurate definition of reasonable doubt that adequately permits both the government and the accused to argue their theories of the case. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 317, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

That the law should be as it is, treating attorney remarks on the fly differently from the court's crafted instructions, is not a significant constitutional question.

The Defendant argues that the court of appeals erred in rejecting his other claims of ineffective assistance. Specifically he objects to the court of appeals' finding that the prosecutor did not: argue facts not in evidence (Pet. at 21-23; Unpub. Op. at 11-

12); make an improper appeal to the jury's passions and prejudices (Pet. at 24-25; Unpub. Op. at 13-14); or misstate the law on forcible compulsion (Pet. at 28-30; Unpub. Op. at 15). But a petition for review will "only" be accepted by the Supreme Court if it presents a consideration under RAP 13.4(b). He does not allege or demonstrate any such consideration as to these issues. None exists.

C. Where the defendant repeatedly forced himself upon a child overcoming her resistance as communicated in word and physical resistance, there is no significant constitutional question regarding the sufficiency of the evidence

The Defendant maintains his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence for forcible compulsion. Pet. at 31-33. Again he fails to demonstrate how this claim satisfies RAP 13.4(b). He argues that he raises a significant constitutional question. Merely raising a question under the constitution will not satisfy the standard.

Forcible compulsion is force which overcomes resistance. CP 38; RCW 9A.44.010(6). It is the defendant's force that must

be physical. *Id.* But a victim's resistance need not be physical in all cases. *State v. McKnight*, 54 Wn. App. 521, 525, 774 P.2d 532, 534 (1989). A victim's resistance may be demonstrated in other ways, for example by repeated requests for the defendant to stop. *McKnight*, 54 Wn. App. at 525-27 (noting that public policy militates against a requirement that victims put themselves at risk of greater harm by physically and futilely resisting).

In our own case, the evidence for forcible compulsion is sufficient. When the Defendant Ross pushed past H.T.'s shirt and put his icy fingers under her bikini top, she resisted by extracting herself and stepping and facing away. She resumed going about the business of changing D.R.'s clothes. But the Defendant overcame this communicated and physical resistance. He placed himself between her and the door and then carried on touching her – this time forcing his fingers under her shorts and swimsuit and into her vagina, causing pain. H.T. screamed a loud and prolonged scream. D.R. took up the scream. Even then,

it took momentum behind the shove which got the Defendant off of her.

The evidence in this case is much greater than that which was found sufficient in *McKnight*. The power differential was significantly greater. The Defendant was 27 assaulting a 12 year old. McKnight was 17 assaulting a 14 year old. Like McKnight's victim, H.T. was scared, alone, and physically weak. Unlike McKnight's victim, H.T. was not in her own home. Her scream and great shove were necessary to extract herself from the continuing rape.

These facts do not present a significant constitutional question.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court deny discretionary review where no consideration under RAP 13.4 is present.

This document contains 3088 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.